IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

NOV 29 1993

By______Chief Deputy Clerk

EDWARD CASTRO,

Defendant/Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Plaintiff/Appellee.

CASE NO. 81,731

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR MARION COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

GEORGE D.E. BURDEN ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER 112-A Orange Avenue Daytona Beach, FL 32114 (904) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In 1988, following a jury trial in the Circuit Court for Marion County, the Honorable Victor J. Musleh presiding, Edward Castro was found guilty of first-degree murder and robbery with a deadly weapon. Castro was sentenced to death on the first-degree murder conviction and to five and one-half years imprisonment on the robbery conviction. On direct appeal, this Court affirmed the convictions, reversed the death sentence and remanded for a new penalty hearing because of faulty jury instructions and the erroneous presentation of irrelevant, presumptively-prejudicial evidence of collateral crimes which rendered the jury recommendation unreliable. <u>Castro v. State</u>, 547 So.2d 111 (Fla. 1989). At the new penalty phase, the jury recommended the death penalty by a vote of eight to four. On direct appeal, this Court reversed the death sentence and

remanded for a new penalty hearing because the trial court erred in refusing to disqualify the Fifth Circuit State Attorney's Office from prosecuting defendant's case and faulty jury instructions. <u>Castro v. State</u>, 597 So.2d 259 (Fla. 1992). This is the direct appeal of a death sentence imposed after the subsequent penalty phase.

In imposing this death sentence, the trial court found four statutory aggravating factors: defendant was previously convicted of another capital felony; the murder was committed while the defendant was engaged in the commission of a robbery; a cold, calculated and premeditated murder without pretense of moral or legal justification, and; an especially heinous, atrocious or cruel murder. The mitigating circumstances found by the trial judge include; a traumatic childhood caused by physical and sexual abuse; and a history of alcohol dependency. (R317-327) FACTS CONCERNING THE MURDER

The circumstances surrounding the murder come primarily from statements Castro made to police following his apprehension on the day of the murder. Castro, alleging that he was too intoxicated to intelligently understand and/or voluntarily waive his constitutional rights, moved to suppress the statements. (R12-27) The transcript from the original motion to suppress evidentiary hearing was admitted (R16), and the motion to suppress was denied without an express finding of voluntariness. (R709). Castro's statements were introduced into evidence over objection and published in edited form to the jury. (R822;831).

In sum, viewed in a light most favorable to the state, the evidence established that Castro arrived in Ocala on January 3, 1987 to stay with friends. (R858; 860) Three or four days later the friends dropped him off at the Ocala bus depot where he went to a nearby bar to drink. (R862) A man named Gallagher took a liking to Castro and invited him to stay at his apartment. (R863) After three days of heavy drinking, he got into an argument with Gallagher and Gallagher asked Castro to leave. (R863, 64) At this time Castro decided he was going to leave Ocala and was going to take a car to do it. (R864)

Castro then observed Austin Scott (the victim) coming out of an apartment and started to talk to him. (R865) After obtaining a six-pack of beer Castro and Austin Scott went to Gallagher's apartment to drink. (R866) Castro then decides that he is going to "take this guy out." (R867) Castro told Scott that he needed to leave to get ten dollars, but instead went to neighboring apartment to get a steak knife. (R867)

When Castro returned he noticed that Scott's car was gone. (R867) Castro then observed Scott exiting the area, wherein Castro waived Scott down and convinced him to return to the apartment. (R868) After another beer, Castro grabbed Scott by the throat and squeezed hard. (R868) As Scott struggled, Castro retrieved the steak knife and stabbed Scott an unknown number of times. (R869) Castro then took Scott's car and drove to Lake City, stopping at rest areas on I-75. (R829)

Deputy Boatwright of the Columbia County Sheriff's

Department observed Castro at State Road 47 and I-75. (R980) Castro's speech was slightly slurred, his eyes were bloodshot, and the officer noted the smell of an alcoholic beverage about his breath when he spoke. (R980) When Castro became hostile towards the officers, he was arrested for disorderly intoxication. (R981) Castro's statements followed that arrest.

Scott had eleven surface wounds to the chest area and was strangled. (R742-44) His right arm had three sets of knife wounds. Scott's blood alcohol content was .22%. (R765) The strangulation could have rendered Scott unconscious prior to the stabbing. (R768) Scott received a broken hyoid bone and a fractured larynx, injuries typically inflicted during strangulation. (R743)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

POINT I: The trial court violated the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 22 of the Florida Constitution by excusing for cause one qualified juror over defense objection. Prospective jurors may not be excluded for cause "simply because they voice general objections to the death penalty or express conscientious or religious scruples against its infliction citing Witherspoon, Lockhart and Gray. Although a decision to impose the death penalty was a weighty one for juror Strayer (as it should be) he never expressed an irrevocable commitment to vote for a life sentence regardless of the evidence. Rather, he expressed that his religious beliefs were an "ingrained" part of his life, but nonetheless he could follow the judge's instructions and could obviously consider a death recommendation if warranted by the evidence and the law. Granting the state's challenge for cause constituted a denial of due process under the state and federal constitutions and further rendered the death penalty and jury recommendation unreliable.

POINT II: The trial court denied eight defense challenges for cause. After exhausting peremptory challenges to remove those jurors which were not denied for cause, the defense moved for additional peremptory challenges. The trial court denied the defense's motion contrary to this Court's expressed directive in <u>Castro v. State</u>, 597 So.2d 259, 261 (Fla. 1992). As a result of the trial court's failure to grant additional peremptory

challenges, two biased jurors were permitted to remain on the jury panel. This constituted a denial of due process under the state and federal constitutions and further rendered the death penalty and jury recommendation unreliable.

POINT III: The trial court found Scott's murder to have been committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without pretense of moral or legal justification. In doing so, the court erroneously transferred the substantial planning and reflection involved in the underlying felony. The evidence clearly showed that Mr. Castro wanted Mr. Scott's car, and was willing to use violence to get it. The record also clearly shows that Mr. Castro was highly intoxicated, and from his own statements the actual homicide was an impulsive act derived from his altered mental state.

POINT IV: The evidence is legally insufficient to show beyond a reasonable doubt that the murder was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel. The wounds to Scott do not alone establish this factor because such testimony is offset by proof that Scott's blood alcohol content was .22 per cent and that, assuming that Scott was conscious when first attacked, the wounds would have rendered Scott unconscious within moments. Pursuant to Herzog v. State, 439 So.2d 1372 (Fla.1983), the HAC statutory aggravating factor must be disallowed.

<u>POINT V</u>: The jury recommendation and death sentence are invalid because they are based on the improper statutory aggravating circumstance of being previously convicted of a capital felony.

Consideration of this factor is barred by the doctrines of res judicata, law of the case, double jeopardy and fundamental fairness, notwithstanding this Court's holding in <u>Daugherty v.</u> <u>State</u>, 419 So.2d 1067 (Fla. 1982).

POINT VI: The jury recommendation is here unreliable and should be discounted. At most, only four statutory aggravating factors exist. When the circumstances of this case compare to other cases in Florida where the death penalty was held to be improper. The death sentence should be reversed because this is not the most aggravated and least mitigated of serious crimes. **POINT VII:** The trial court violated the Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments by rejecting defense counsel's requested

jury instruction concerning the consequences and appropriateness of a sentence of life imprisonment. The denial of the requested jury instruction on what was a correct and otherwise relevant statement of the law denied Mr. Castro his rights to due process, to address the evidence and the law, and to effective representation of counsel.

POINT VIII: The trial court erred in failing to determine whether Castro's statements were voluntarily given. Denial of Castro's motion to suppress does not satisfy the requirement of an express finding of voluntariness. The evidence otherwise fails to show that Castro knowingly waived his constitutional rights to remain silent and to an attorney.

<u>POINT IX</u>: The trial court erred in admitting over timely and specific objection a color autopsy photograph. The graphic

picture was irrelevant and, assuming relevance, the prejudice of the picture far outweighed any probative value. The presence of this photograph made the jury recommendation unreliable under the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article I, Sections 9 and 17 of the Florida Constitution.

POINT X: The especially heinous, atrocious or cruel statutory aggravating factor is unconstitutionally vague, in that it fails to channel the discretion of the recommending jury and/or sentencer in imposition of the death penalty. The limiting construction placed on that factor by this Court fails restrict the arbitrary and capricious imposition of the death penalty in violation of the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article I, Sections 9 and 17 of the Florida Constitution.

POINT XI: The death penalty is unconstitutional on its face and as applied because this Court, rather than the legislature, has provided the substance of the terms set forth in Section 921.141, thereby violating the separation of powers doctrine. Further, the statutory aggravating factors are themselves too broad to sufficiently narrow the discretion of the jury/sentencer in recommending/imposing the death penalty, in that non-statutory aggravating factors are considered under the broad umbrella of a statutory aggravating factor. Finally, the death penalty legislation in Florida is unconstitutional because it places the burden on the defendant to prove that the mitigation outweighs

corrected, the "outweigh" standard impermissibly dilutes the State's constitutional burden to prove beyond and to the exclusion of every reasonable doubt that the death penalty is warranted in a particular case. For those reasons, the death penalty in Florida is unconstitutional and the instant death penalty must be reversed.

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATED THE SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE I, SECTION 22 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION BY EXCUSING FOR CAUSE ONE QUALIFIED JUROR OVER DEFENSE OBJECTION.

Introduction

The law is clear that prospective jurors may not be excluded for cause "simply because they voice general objections to the death penalty or express conscientious or religious scruples against its infliction." Witherspoon v. Illinois, 391 U.S. 510, 522 (1968); Lockhart v. McCree, 476 U.S. 162, 176 (1986). This principle was reaffirmed by the United States Supreme Court in Gray v. Mississippi, 481 U.S. 648 (1987). There, the Court reiterated what the constitutional standard to be used to determine if a juror may be excluded for cause as being not whether the juror would have a difficult time imposing the death penalty; rather "the relevant inquiry is whether the jurors views would 'substantially impair the performance of his duties as a juror in accordance with his instructions and his oath'." Gray v. Mississippi, 481 U.S. at 658, quoting Adams v. Texas, 448 U.S. 38, 45 (1982). See also Wainwright v. Witt, 469 U.S. 412, 424 (1985).

The constitutional basis of that standard was emphasized in <u>Gray</u>:

It is necessary, however, to keep in mind the significance of a capital defendant's right to a fair and impartial jury under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments.

Justice Rehnquist in writing for the Court, recently explained: "It is important to remember that all who oppose the death penalty are subject to removal for cause in capital cases; those who firmly believe that the death penalty is unjust may nevertheless serve as jurors in capital cases as long as they state clearly that they are willing to temporarily set aside their own beliefs in deference to the rule of law." Lockhart v. McCree, 476 U.S. 162, 176 (1986).

The State's power to exclude for cause jurors from capital juries does not extend beyond its interest in removing those jurors who would "frustrate the State's legitimate interests in administering constitutional capital sentencing schemes by not following their oaths." Wainwright v. Witt, 469 U.S. at 423. To permit the exclusion for cause of other prospective jurors based on their views of the death penalty unnecessarily narrows the cross section of venire members. Ιt "stack(s) the deck against the petitioner. To execute [such a] death sentence would deprive him of his life without due process of law." Witherspoon v. Illinois, 391 U.S. at 523.

Gray v. Mississippi, 481 U.S. at 658, 659.

In <u>Adams v. Texas</u>, 448 U.S. at 49, the Court ruled that jurors could not be excluded if they stated they would be "affected" by the possibility of the death penalty since such indication could mean "only that the potentially lethal consequences or decision would invest their deliberations with greater seriousness and gravity or would involve them emotionally."

> Neither nervousness, emotional involvement, nor inability to deny or confirm any affect whatsoever is equivalent to an unwillingness or an inability on the part of the jurors to follow the court's instructions and obey their oaths, regardless of their feelings about the death penalty. The grounds for

excluding these jurors were consequently insufficient under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments.

448 U.S. at 50. The standard for limiting the exclusion of jurors was specifically approved by the court in <u>Wainwright v.</u> <u>Witt</u>, 469 U.S. at 423-424, which also reiterated that the burden of demonstrating that the challenged juror would not follow the law in accordance with his oath and that the instruction of the court is on the party seeking exclusion of the juror, i.e., the state. <u>Id</u>. In the present case, it is clear that prosecution did not meet its burden to establish exclusion.

Juror Strayer

It is clear that Juror Strayer had fixed religious beliefs concerning the death penalty; and recognized the serious nature of deciding such an issue. It is also clear that this was the first time that Juror Strayer had been called for jury service for a capital case and had not been subjected to capital punishment voir dire. When the Court informed Strayer that he would be questioned by the state about how he felt about the death penalty the following exchange occurred:

> STATE: Nearly everyone has some opinion about capital punishment or the death penalty. I want to find out what yours is. Do you believe there should be capital punishment in the State of Florida?

STRAYER: Well, I think there is certain instances where people would like to think that that solves something. I don't see where it really solves anything.

STATE: Can you envision any crimes for which you think -- that you feel that capital punishment would be appropriate? STRAYER: Well, not really. Not according to my religious beliefs, no.

STATE: So, for you to vote and recommend the death penalty would be contrary to your religious beliefs?

STRAYER: I would have to say yes.

STATE: Could you set those religious beliefs aside and follow the law the Court gives you regarding that?

STRAYER: Well, I feel there is kind of universal laws that are higher than the laws of what other people create.

STATE: And it's all right for you to have that opinion. It's all right for you to follow that conscience. My question to you is: Even if the State proves according to the law in the State of Florida that this case and this defendant deserves the death penalty, would you ever vote for the death penalty based upon your beliefs or recommend the death penalty based on your beliefs?

STRAYER: I don't think so. I couldn't do that conscientiously. (R390, 391)

Thus far, the voir dire of Juror Strayer did not address the relevant inquiry under <u>Witt</u> and <u>Witherspoon</u> for determining impartiality to serve on a capital jury. In the above questioning by the state, Juror Strayer was not asked whether he could set aside his religious beliefs and consider the instructions of the court and follow the law as instructed. Rather, the state's question was on the collateral matter of whether "based upon" his religious beliefs could their be capital punishment. Simply demonstrating that a prospective juror's religious beliefs run contrary to capital punishment does not demonstrate that such beliefs impair their ability to serve on

demonstrate that such beliefs impair their ability to serve on the jury. The voir dire by defense counsel made the relevant <u>Witt/Witherspoon</u> inquiry:

> DEFENSE: Are you saying here today that if you listen to all of the evidence that was presented here, evidence of reasons why Eddie should live, evidence from the State as to why the death penalty is appropriate, that you could not go back and think about those factors and deliberate carefully and follow the law?

> STRAYER: I could make a decision based on what I believe to by my conscience level of what would be appropriate or what is not appropriate, or that sort of thing. Yeah.

DEFENSE: But you would try to follow the law as it's set out?

STRAYER: According to my knowledge of what it is. I guess that is true.

DEFENSE: Let me explain this to you. The jurors don't have to go back and deliberate and guess about what the law is. The Court's function, part of the Court's function is to provide jurors with instructions and, in fact, those would be allowed to go back to the jury room. So you would be asked to consider and deliberate based on, again, the evidence that you heard in the courtroom about reasons to save Eddie's life and reasons that you may want to consider to decide whether or not the death penalty was appropriate, but you would be given direction. Do you think you could follow those guidelines, read them, and make a decision in accordance with the law?

STRAYER: According to what I was told, yeah, as far as if I'm given some kind of guidance as to what that is. (emphasis added) (R393, 394)

The above responses to the relevant <u>Witt\Witherspoon</u> inquiry demonstrates that although Juror Strayer's religious belief's are against the death penalty, Juror Strayer as an individual citizen would perform his civic duty and listen to the evidence, follow the court's instruction, and make a decision based upon the law. This was further reinforced when the State asked Juror Strayer whether he could ever make a death recommendation, wherein he replied:

> STRAYER: It's kind of -- very difficult to say, because I don't really know any of the details of anything. I mean I don't see any way of making that kind of a judgment based on what you are asking me right now. I don't have any knowledge. (R395)

Appellant contends that the above response by Juror Strayer demonstrates that after being given a short explanation of how jurors arrive at their recommendation by defense counsel, he is having difficulty applying a hypothetical to that process. Note, the response "based on what you are asking me now" refers to his newly found understanding of the capital punishment sentencing process as explained by defense counsel. Juror Strayer's reluctance to provide a hypothetical death eligible crime in no way shows that his ability to act impartially is impaired.

The trial court, although well intentioned, questioned Juror Strayer in a manner that would have Juror Strayer again express what his religious convictions demand, rather what he would do for his civic duty. The trial court prefaced the relevant <u>Witt/Witherspoon</u> inquiry with what at this point was very obvious: Capital Punishment is against Juror Strayer's religion:

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