# FILEL SID J. WHITE

MAR 2 1994

CLERK, SUPREME COURE

Chief Deputy Clark

EDWARD CASTRO,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 81,731

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MARION COUNTY, FLORIDA

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

## ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

DAN HAUN ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FL. BAR. #694370 210 N. Palmetto Avenue Suite 447 Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

and Adams v. Texas, 448 U.S. 38 (1980). The trial court did not abuse its discretion.

Appellee would submit that even if the trial court erred by not removing Juror Sawallis that error is harmless. Ross v. Oklahoma, 487 U.S. 81,88 (1988)(trial court's failure to remove prejudiced prospective juror for cause harmless in capital case because juror removed by peremptory challenge and defendant failed to prove that jury as whole prejudiced by error).

#### JUROR WOOTEN

Appellant argues that the trial court erred by not excusing for cause Juror Wooten because she saw the article in the newspaper about the case, she supports the death penalty, and she would place the burden on the appellant to prove life is the appropriate sentence. Appellee submits that all three reasons are meritless. The following testimony was elicited concerning the newspaper article:

The Court: Tell us anything that you remember of what you may have read about the case.

Ms. Wooten: I read that a jury would be selected for sentencing on the -- what's the name? -- Castro.

The Court: Do you remember reading anything else?

Ms. Wooten: That was all I read. I never read the paper. I boycott the paper (T 84).

Mr. Whitaker: Yes, your honor, if I may. Based upon your reading of that little blurb, did you form any opinions about this case, as to whether Mr. Castro should receive the death penalty or not?

Ms. Wooten: No. (T 85)

The trial court believed Juror Wooten. The only thing she remembers from the article is the fact that Castro would have a

jury selected for sentencing. The court, itself, would make that information known to the jury panel. Juror Wooten also indicated that she had not formed any opinions about the case (T 84). The standard is not that a juror never have been exposed to outside material. The question the trial court must consider is not whether publicity causes a juror to remember a case, but whether the publicity has given jurors such fixed opinions that they cannot judge the defendant's guilt impartially. Bundy v. Dugger, supra. Jurors do not have to be completely ignorant of the facts and issues of a case. They must only be able to lay aside impressions or opinions shaped by pretrial exposure to the media and render a verdict based solely on the evidence presented during trial.

No manifest error has been demonstrated.

Juror Wooten testified as follows concerning the death penalty:

Mr. Whitaker: Do you have -- Everyone has an opinion about the death penalty, I guess. Do you have an opinion as to whether or not there should be a death penalty?

Ms. Wooten: As a general statement?

Mr. Whitaker: Yes.

Ms. Wooten: Yes.

Mr. Whitaker: Do you believe that it's appropriate in all cases?

Ms. Wooten: No.

Mr. Whitaker: You may have your opinions what cases may be appropriate. But, if the Court instructs you that you need to set aside your opinions and follow the law he instructs you on, could you follow the law the Court instructs you on to make your recommendation?

Ms. Wooten: Certainly.

Mr. Whitaker: And set aside you opinions as to when the death penalty is appropriate?
Ms. Wooten: Yes. (T 85)

Mr. Miller: If the judge were to instruct you that only certain kinds of first-degree premeditated murders warranted the death penalty, unusual aggravated first-degree murders, does that cause a problem with you?

Because the reason I'm asking you this question is because I heard you telling me before that you came in thinking we ought to show you something. That you believe in the death penalty in first-degree murder cases.

If you don't hear anything from us, your normal reaction, prior to hearing any instructions, would be to impose death? Would that notion you had coming in here, would that cause you any problems following those instructions that he has to show you that it's quite the opposite -- that, in fact, you should consider life unless he proves that this is an aggravated first-degree murder?

Ms. Wooten: I would go with the instructions of the judge.

Mr. Miller: You don't think you would have any problems with that, regardless of whatever notions you had coming into this courtroom?

(Ms. Wooten shakes her head indicating "no.") (T 92,93)

Juror Wooten testified that she would set aside her own opinions and follow the law. The standard for determining whether a juror is qualified to sit on a capital case in which death is a possible penalty, is whether the juror's view on the death penalty would "prevent or substantially impair the performance of his duties as a juror in accordance with his instructions and his oath." Darden v. Wainwright, 477 U.S. 165, 106 S.Ct. 2464 (1986); Wainwright v. Witt, 469 U.S. 412, 105 S.Ct. 844 (1985); Adams v. Texas, 448 U.S. 38, 100 S.Ct. 2521 (1980). See also Witherspoon v. Illinois, 391 U.S. 510, 88 S.Ct. 1770 (1968).

Appellant next argues that Juror Wooten placed the burden on the appellant to prove life was the appropriate sentence. The following testimony concerns burdens:

Mr. Miller: That the State has the burden of proof and has to prove to you that this is some kind of an aggravated crime beyond just a normal first-degree murder before you could impose death.

Ms. Wooten: If I'm understanding your question: If he is supposed to be proving that, then I don't need further testimony from you. I wouldn't (T 92).

The trial court did not abuse its discretion where the juror said the burden is on the state, and the appellant does not have to do anything. Defense counsel's leading and confusing questions about burden of proof do not show the juror would be unable to follow the law and instructions. See, Penn v. State, 574 So. 2d 1079 (Fla. 1991); Brown v. State, 565 So. 2d 304 (Fla. Questioning a juror regarding burdens of proof when he has never before sat on a jury, particularly a capital case, does not demonstrate his views would "prevent or substantially impair the performance of his duties as a juror in accordance with his instructions and his oath," in the absence of any affirmative statement by the juror imposing the burden of proof on the defendant. See, Randolph v. State, 562 So. 2d 331 (Fla. 1990), quoting Gray v. Mississippi, 481 U.S. 648 (1987), Wainwright v. Witt, 469 U.S. 412 (1985), and Adams v. Texas, 448 U.S. 38 (1980). The trial court did not abuse its discretion.

Appellee would submit that even if the trial court erred by not removing Juror Wooten that error is harmless. Ross v. Oklahoma, 487 U.S. 81,88 (1988).

## JUROR ALDERMAN

Appellant arques that Juror Alderman's obvious predisposition to automatically recommend the death penalty was sufficient reason to grant his challenge for cause. submits that this claim is meritless. Juror Alderman testified that he would set aside his own opinions and follow the law (T The standard for determining whether a juror is 121,122). qualified to sit on a capital case in which death is a possible penalty, is whether the juror's view on the death penalty would "prevent or substantially impair the performance of his duties as a juror in accordance with his instructions and his oath." Darden v. Wainwright, 477 U.S. 165, 106 S.Ct. 2464 (1986); Wainwright v. Witt, 469 U.S. 412, 105 S.Ct. 844 (1985); Adams v. Texas, 448 U.S. 38, 100 S.Ct. 2521 (1980). See also Witherspoon v. Illinois, 391 U.S. 510, 88 S.Ct. 1770 (1968). The trial court properly denied the challenge for cause.

Appellee would submit that even if the trial court erred by not removing Juror Alderman that error is harmless. Ross v. Oklahoma, 487 U.S. 81,88 (1988).

## JUROR VICKERS

Appellant argues that Juror Vickers has strong preconceived opinions in support of capital punishment, and would have difficulty setting that bias aside and being a fair and truly impartial juror. Appellee submits that the challenge for cause

was properly denied by the trial court. Juror Vickers testified as follows concerning the death penalty:

> Ms. Jenkins: All right. Can you imagine any circumstances in which you may think that a person who has been convicted for a firstdegree premeditated murder, that life would be a serious enough punishment for that person?

Mr. Vickers: Right. Could. (T 146)

Ms. Jenkins: Can you imagine yourself ever making a decision for mercy for a person who you know has committed a first-degree murder?

Mr. Vickers: Yes. (T 147)

Do you feel you could Jenkins: equally weigh mitigation and aggravation?

Mr. Vickers: Yes, I could. (T 149)
Ms. Jenkins: Could you consider Could you consider facts about Mr. Castro, about Eddie's life, as mitigation?

Mr. Vickers: I could. Right.

Ms. Jenkins: Could you give that type of mitigation some weight if you are reasonably convinced that these facts are true?

Mr. Vickers: Yeah, I could consider that. (T 150)

Juror Vickers testified that he would set aside his own opinions and follow the law. The juror's view on the death penalty would not "prevent or substantially impair performance of his duties as a juror in accordance with his instructions and his oath." Darden v. Wainwright, 477 U.S. 165, 106 S.Ct. 2464 (1986); Wainwright v. Witt, 469 U.S. 412, 105 S.Ct. 844 (1985); Adams v. Texas, 448 U.S. 38, 100 S.Ct. 2521 (1980). See also Witherspoon v. Illinois, 391 U.S. 510, 88 S.Ct. 1770 (1968). The trial court properly denied Appellant's challenge for cause.

Appellee would submit that even if the trial court erred by not removing Juror Vickers that error is harmless. Ross v. Oklahoma, 487 U.S. 81,88 (1988).

### JUROR CORCORAN

Appellant argues that Juror Corcoran would be an automatic vote for the death penalty if the state proved an aggravating factor. Appellee submits that this issue is meritless and the trial court properly denied appellant's challenge for cause. The following testimony concerned Juror Corcoran's understanding of a juror's role:

Mr. Whitaker: The law is: Before the death penalty can be imposed and recommended to be imposed, the State must prove something more than that: It must be a very aggravated murder.

So, in this courtroom the Court -- the judge is going to tell you what has to be proved.

Ms. Corcoran: Yes.

Mr. Whitaker: And if the State does not prove that, what the Court says the State has to prove, then what would you have to vote?

Ms. Corcoran: If it's not proven?

Mr. Whitaker: Then what would you recommend?

Ms. Corcoran: Life. (T 208)

Mr. Whitaker: ... Would you consider those mitigating factors and weigh them against aggravating factors in making your recommendation to the court?

Ms. Corcoran: I would try my best to do the right thing and listen to the case and try to give the right answer. (T 209)

Mr. Miller: When you were talking just a minute ago to the prosecutor and when he was asking you something, you said, you talked once again abut proof, how he really had to prove it to you or you couldn't vote for death. Right?

Ms. Corcoran: Yes.

Mr. Miller: Now, when you said that did you mean: Prove Mr. Castro's guilty to you?

Ms. Corcoran: No. Prove what he should get: death penalty or life. (T 210)

Juror Corcoran indicated that the state would have to prove their case before he would recommend the death penalty. Juror Corcoran testified that he would weigh the aggravating factors against the mitigating factors. It is clear this juror was also qualified to sit on a capital case in which death is a possible penalty, as his view on the death penalty would not "prevent or substantially impair the performance of his duties as a juror in accordance with his instructions and his oath." Darden v. Wainwright, supra; Wainwright v. Witt, supra; Adams v. Texas, supra. See also Witherspoon v. Illinois, supra. The trial court properly denied Appellant's challenge for cause.

Appellee would again submit that even if the trial court erred by not removing Juror Corcoran that error is harmless.

Ross v. Oklahoma, 487 U.S. 81,88 (1988).

# JUROR TRIPLETT

Juror Triplett indicated that he had read the Castro jury selection article in the Sunday paper, heard an update about the case on the radio, and vaguely recalled reports of the actual murder five years ago. The appellant argues that Juror Triplett has a bias in support of the death penalty, and additionally has exposure to prejudicial media coverage of the trial, and as such should have been excused for cause. Appellee submits that the trial court properly denied the appellant's challenge for cause.

Juror Triplett testified as follows concerning the media coverage:

The Court: Just tell me everything that you remember.

Mr. Triplett: Well, the main thing I remember, they said they were going to pick a jury at 8:30 on Monday morning. I told my wife, I said, "I bet you this is one of the cases that they will have jurors for."

The one thing I do remember is that this is a third time that they have had a penalty phase of the trial. Because the first two were thrown out for -- I don't know. I can't remember the reasons. But this is the third one, I believe. (T 536)

Mr. Whitaker: ... As far as the things that you have read -- and I know the Court asked you questions similar to this. Can you put aside anything that you may remember or may have read as far as the sentencing goes and give Mr. Castro a clean slate here? Make you decisions only on what you hear in this courtroom and are instructed from the Court.

Mr. Triplett: Yes, sir. I think I can.

Mr. Whitaker: You can do that?

Mr. Triplett: Yes. (T 538)

Juror Triplett stated that he could set aside any information he had obtained from the media, and only consider the information he received in the courtroom. The standard is not that a juror never have been exposed to outside material. The question the trial court must consider is not whether publicity causes a juror to remember a case, but whether the publicity has given jurors such fixed opinions that they cannot judge the defendant's quilt impartially. Bundy v. Dugger, supra. It is clear this juror was able to lay aside any impressions and render a verdict based solely on the evidence and instructions from the court.

The trial judge observed this juror's demeanor. There has been no abuse of discretion and the trial judge's determination shuld not be disturbed on appeal since no manifest error has been demonstrated. See, Young v. State, supra; Jennings v. State, supra; Cook v. State, supra.

Juror Triplett testified as follows concerning the death penalty:

Mr. Whitaker: ... If the Court instructs you that the law is that not every -- not every case deserves the death penalty, can you follow the Court's law or instructions on that?

Mr. Triplett: Yes.

Mr. Whitaker: In spite of your opinions?

Mr. Triplett: Yes. (T 539)

Mr. Whitaker: I want to make sure you Right now Mr. Castro has understand this. been found guilty of first-degree murder, premeditated murder. Right now, under the laws of the State of Florida, the presumed sentence is not death. The presumed sentence is life in prison.

Do you understand that? "presumption" means what he should get, unless something more is shown according to the law.

Mr. Triplett: Yes, sir.

And you can accept that as Mr. Whitaker: the law and go from there?

Mr. Triplett: Yes, sir.

Mr. Whitaker: You can do that? Mr. Triplett: Yes, sir. (T 540)

Mr. Whitaker: It may make it more difficult, but would you still follow the Court's instructions?

Mr. Triplett: Sure. He told me to come in here. I'm here.

Mr. Whitaker: As far as the mitigating factors and circumstances, if the Court instructs you that if you are reasonably convinced that they exist and that you need consider those in making recommendation, would you consider them?

Mr. Triplett: Yes. (T 545)

Juror Triplett stated that he would follow the trial court's instructions as well as the law in determining whether death or life were the appropriate sentence. Juror Triplett testified that he would consider and weigh the mitigating factors. view on the death penalty would not "prevent or substantially impair the performance of his duties as a juror in accordance with his instructions and his oath. The trial court properly denied Appellant's challenge for cause.

Appellee would submit that even if the trial court erred by not removing Juror Triplett that error is harmless. Ross v. Oklahoma 487 U.S. 81,88 (1988).

### JUROR ETHEREDGE & JUROR BELL

Appellant argues that Juror Etheredge's reading of the news article tainted him from participation on the jury. appellant also argues that his counsel was hampered in their efforts question jurors concerning the to news article. Appellant further argues that Juror Etheredge supports the death penalty. Appellee would submit that in every case where there has been pretrial publicity care must be used in questioning the prospective jurors. Additionally, the appellant failed to show how Juror Etheredge's reading of the news article prejudiced him. The following testimony concerns the news article:

The Court: Tell me exactly what you remember reading in that article.

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